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Hearing commenced at 3.39 pm 
 
Dr NATHAN GIBSON 
Chief Psychiatrist, Office of the Chief Psychiatrist, examined: 
 
 

The CHAIR: Welcome, Dr Nathan Gibson, to the Joint Select Committee on End of Life Choices. On 
behalf of the committee, I would like to thank you for agreeing to appear today to provide evidence 
in relation to the end-of-life-choices inquiry. My name is Amber-Jade Sanderson; I am the chair of 
the joint select committee. We have Hon Dr Sally Talbot, MLC; Reece Whitby, MLA; 
Dr Jeannine Purdy, our principal research officer; Simon Millman, MLA; Hon Colin Holt, MLC; 
Hon Nick Goiran, MLC; and Hon Robin Chapple, MLC. The purpose of today’s hearing is to discuss 
the current arrangements for end-of-life choices in WA and to highlight any gaps that may exist. It 
is important that you understand that any deliberate misleading of this committee may be regarded 
as a contempt of Parliament. Your evidence is protected by privilege; however, this privilege does 
not apply to anything you might say outside of these proceedings. I advise that the proceedings of 
this hearing will be broadcast live within Parliament House and via the internet. 

Do you have any questions about your attendance here today? 

Dr GIBSON: No. 

The CHAIR: We have a lot of questions, but before we begin, would you like to make a brief opening 
statement? 

Dr GIBSON: Really, I have formulated my response to your questions per se. I guess the opening 
statement I would make is that my submission was really not to take a broad approach but just to 
focus on individuals with mental illness per se and what this particular issue may be of relevance for 
them, and I thought it was important to do that, given that they are a particularly vulnerable group 
and a group where there has been differing approaches to end-of-life choices in different 
jurisdictions, so I thought it was important that we had that focus on that particular group. 

The CHAIR: Yes, I think that is very sensible. What we will probably do is let you make an overall 
statement, if you like, relating to your submission, and then we will probably move through those 
other sections. A lot of the questions probably will not be directly relevant to your practice. 

Dr GIBSON: Thanks very much. I have broken it down into five issues, which are mental health 
stigma, the nature of mental illness, capacity, implicit vulnerability, and an individual with a mental 
illness who develops a terminal illness. I have raised that issue of mental health stigma because it is 
quite an insidious issue around mental illness throughout the community. It is the issue that is 
almost embedded in our collective psyche that individuals with mental illness are perhaps lesser 
people, are dangerous and are hopeless, and that there is a lifelong sentence for them, and all of 
these are patently untrue, but I think they still pervade our societal psyche. So I thought it was really 
important to actually raise that issue, because even if someone is treated for their mental illness, 
those stigma issues are still there and may still potentially influence their decision-making capacity 
based on societal responses to them. So that was number one. 

At number two is the nature of mental illness, and just to highlight, obviously, that it is complex; it 
is not one entity. Mental illness is generally not a terminal illness, although you have situations, 
obviously, like dementia, which are classified as mental illnesses, which are physically terminal 
illnesses. We have classification systems like the ICD and DSM, which show that there is such a wide 
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variety of mental illness that it is very difficult to actually consider them as one group, so you actually 
need to consider the needs of those individuals. 

That really leads me on to capacity as well, which is that just because someone has a mental illness, 
it does not mean that they lack capacity. The nature of capacity is complex in that people can have 
capacity for one thing but not capacity for another. That is quite common, really. The nature of the 
mental illness itself does not necessarily determine capacity per se, so I thought it was really 
important to say that. 

For implicit vulnerability, I think they are a group who are implicitly vulnerable in the sense that 
work by people like Assen Jablensky and Vera Morgan, two great local researchers at a national 
level, has shown that this particular group are incredibly socially disadvantaged and do not always 
have the community support that we assume people have. 

The final thing I wanted to say is that, whilst I am wanting individuals with mental illness not to be 
considered for any voluntary assisted dying legislation because of their mental illness, and we see 
that in some jurisdictions like Belgium and the Netherlands, although other jurisdictions do not have 
that, the rights of an individual with mental illness are important. If there is a set of legislation or a 
statute around this, individuals with mental illness who have terminal illnesses should have the 
same access to that legislation as anyone else, so they should not be discriminated against in that 
regard. That is really what I wanted to say in a nutshell. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Dr Gibson, you have a section, the fourth section, on implicit vulnerability. I think 
the statement was that individuals with a mental illness are implicitly vulnerable in the context of 
seeking end of life. Does mental illness include depression? 

Dr GIBSON: It does, yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Does it also include demoralisation? 

Dr GIBSON: Demoralisation per se is not a diagnostic category, but many mental illnesses have 
demoralisation as a component of their diagnosis and of their being. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: So demoralisation might appear in a person who has a mental illness but, 
equally, might not? 

Dr GIBSON: It is possible, yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Could a person have demoralisation without having a mental illness? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Would that be classified as a mental illness, or is it just demoralisation? 

Dr GIBSON: Demoralisation per se is not a mental illness as such, but is a common feature of many 
mental illnesses. Hence, in someone with demoralisation, it would be critical to actually exclude a 
mental illness for that person. 

The CHAIR: Would you consider dementia a mental illness? 

Dr GIBSON: It is one of those illnesses that, if you like, sits astride both physical and mental illnesses. 
There are a lot of associated features of dementia—things like psychosis and cognitive 
impairment—which may be consistent with mental illness, but things like Alzheimer’s disorder, 
which is the most common form of dementia, vascular dementia after strokes and Lewy body 
dementia are all well-known, clearly physical illnesses which have a deteriorating course. Whilst 
they are listed within the categorisation system of mental illnesses, they are clearly physical. Can I 
just make the comparison that things like schizophrenia, whilst they are considered mental illnesses, 
there is actually really good evidence now to say that there is a physical basis, as well as other 
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psychological and social components, to that illness. There is kind of a community view sometimes 
that schizophrenia is something to do with your psychological make-up or social issues. They have 
a really critical role to play in schizophrenia, but there is very good evidence—I will say that again—
that schizophrenia has a biological basis to it as well, so sometimes the differentiation between 
physical and mental illness is very arbitrary. 

The CHAIR: Just following that line, in that instance would you exclude dementia as a mental illness 
from accessing voluntary assisted dying if that were a legislative possibility? 

Dr GIBSON: That is a really tough one, because someone may have had a lifelong view with regard 
to dementia, particularly in the context of having seen family members with dementia, and they 
may be very clear and it may be consistent over a long period of time that they would not wish to 
go through that process. 

[3.50 pm] 

That is, I think, a different scenario. Someone who has capacity and is looking at three, four, five, six 
years down the track at what may happen is very different from other mental illnesses where you 
cannot necessarily predict what will happen down the track. You can say in the vast majority of cases 
that there will be good outcomes down the track, whereas dementia is a different issue in many 
ways. It is also different from someone who has fixed cognitive impairment; sometimes after a head 
injury, someone may have fixed cognitive impairment. They do not have dementia, they are not 
necessarily going to get worse, although they may be at slight risk of that, but again that is not a 
situation where someone could look ahead and say, “In five years’ time, you’re going to be in this 
particular state.” You cannot necessarily predict how that person will be in five years’ time. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: So with these mental illnesses as the reason itself, I take it, then, you are saying 
that these are solely mental illnesses; there is no physical illness? I think you might have used the 
word “biological” illness. 

Dr GIBSON: Yes, look, it is a tricky one. That is what I was trying to explain. I think with schizophrenia, 
there is a physical component to it, but it is not necessarily a long-term, debilitating or terminal 
physical illness, even though there is a physical component to it. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: So they would be in or out on your criteria? 

Dr GIBSON: Definitely out of voluntary assisted dying. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Should not be able to access it? 

Dr GIBSON: If an individual with any form of mental illness has a terminal illness—if that is how the 
legislation ends up, and I am only projecting how it might or not—and there was legislation so that 
people, like in Victoria, who had a terminal illness and were going to die within a certain time frame 
of six months, 12 months or whatever was considered and there is a very clear course that that is 
going to happen, then individuals who have mental illness like schizophrenia and who have capacity 
should not be restricted from accessing that in the sense that they should have the same rights as 
any individual in society to access that legislation. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: If I get this right, if a Western Australian has schizophrenia, they should be able 
to kill themselves? 

Dr GIBSON: If a Western Australian has schizophrenia, they should not be killing themselves because 
they have schizophrenia. That is the message. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: But if they have an incurable cancer — 
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Dr GIBSON: Yes, they should have the same rights as anyone else in the community to access the 
legislation. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: So they would have to say, “The reason I would like to access this is not because 
I have schizophrenia, but because I have cancer”? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes, that is right. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: How would you be able to determine whether the person is actually saying that 
they want to access it because of the cancer and not the schizophrenia? 

Dr GIBSON: That would be the robust assessment that would occur with information, obviously, 
from a cancer specialist and assessments of that person’s capacity by a psychiatrist to actually 
determine that as well. But I think if a cancer specialist, or a second opinion or whoever, says, “This 
person has incurable lung cancer”, or bowel cancer or breast cancer and barring some sort of 
miracle, which rarely happens, “We know that this person is very likely to die within six months”, 
then it is not the psychiatrist actually making that assessment of prognosis; it is a physical specialist 
making that assessment. I think that is very important. It is not psychiatrists who would be 
determining whether someone is going to die within a certain period of time; it has to be someone 
who knows about the illness per se. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Just carrying on from that, so to ensure that the person was of sound mind, 
that is where it comes to the psychiatrist? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes, that is right. The reason I say “psychiatrist”—in some jurisdictions, it does not have 
to be a psychiatrist—is if you look at the Mental Health Act, it requires a psychiatrist to determine 
capacity to make someone involuntary under the Mental Health Act. My feeling would be why 
would you not then ask a psychiatrist to determine capacity in a perhaps more significant issue of 
somebody determining whether they wish to take their own life or not. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Just on the same subject, because this is really clarifying your fifth area that 
you have drawn to our attention, which is an individual with a mental illness who develops a 
terminal illness, you have talked about the biological basis for schizophrenia. There are, as I 
understand it, also biological bases that are likely to be discovered for certain types of depression. 

Dr GIBSON: Absolutely, yes. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: One would think that over time, as psychiatry moves further away from the 
1950s, there will be more psychiatric illnesses that come under that category. I will ask you this 
question in two parts. Currently, in 2017, are there any mental illnesses that you would put onto 
the list if we were talking about the criteria being something like death within a certain number of 
months would not be unexpected—six month, 12 months—which is what we are talking about with 
some of the more obvious candidates for the voluntary assisted dying option, so people with cancer, 
people with motor neurone disease and that sort of thing? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So where the doctor would not be surprised if the person died within six 
months. Are there any mental illnesses in 2017 that you would put on that list? 

Dr GIBSON: This is tricky because you have individuals who have severe mental illness and are 
severely and recurrently suicidal due to their mental illness per se. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: That is what I was going to ask you to unpick, depending on how you 
responded. 
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Dr GIBSON: You could actually reasonably say there is a reasonable chance that this person will take 
their life over a period of years. I think the difficulty is that the question is: is this person being 
provided with the absolute optimal care that they can? Secondly, with mental illnesses, it is different 
from, say, cancer or motor neurone disease, where there is also a slippery slope. We have historical 
issues of people with schizophrenia being killed in Nazi Germany because they had schizophrenia; 
we have historical issues of people with intellectual disability being killed for eugenic purposes as 
well in different societies. So we cannot ignore that kind of historical concern and the slippery slope 
issue there for mental illness. That is different from someone who has terminal cancer, I think. But 
it is complex, and I do not want to make something that is complex too simple by saying that 
individuals with mental illness are not likely to die in a certain period of time, because we can say 
that somebody with a mental illness is at high risk of suicide within a certain period. But the ethical 
and professional approach is to actually provide appropriate care and support for those individual 
people. What we cannot do is say, “We can predict who will die”, because I have seen people who 
I have thought, “Gee, this person is so likely to kill themselves within six months”, and 15 years on 
they are doing really, really well and they are looking back and saying, “Gee, I’m glad I’m alive.” 
I think it is really important that we do not lump those individuals who have severe risk due to their 
mental illness with somebody who has a physically terminal illness. We talk about high risk and we 
talk about likelihood of suicide, but we cannot actually predict that that person will suicide and we 
also cannot predict that in 10 years’ time they are going to be feeling different. Borderline 
personality disorder is a classic example. You have individuals in their early 20s who are constantly 
at high risk of suicide. The majority of those people in their 30s and 40s are doing extremely well 
and they are pleased to be alive. Many of them may still have ongoing issues—I do not doubt that—
but it is a difference kettle of fish from someone who has an illness where the doctor says, “This 
cancer is eating up your body; you’re going to die in six months.” We actually cannot predict the 
outcomes on an individual basis for those individuals with severe mental illness. I do not know if I 
have answered that question. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Yes, you have. I think perhaps the most useful part of what you have just 
said from the policy perspective is that if you take somebody who has made numerous attempts to 
commit suicide or somebody whose care has not alleviated their symptoms, it is likely or at least it 
should be examined to see whether that person has had an optimal level of care. 

[4.00 pm] 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So where you had optimal levels of care through the community it is not 
obvious that you would want to put any mental illnesses on that list that included an expectation of 
being dead within 12 months? 

Dr GIBSON: I think it is a slippery slope if we include — 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I am not trying to put words in your mouth; I am trying to condense what 
you said. 

Dr GIBSON: Sure. I think it is a slippery slope if we include any mental illness per se on that list. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: That is a very important thing. 

Dr GIBSON: That is the position also, I am aware, of the college of psychiatrists at a bi-national level, 
and that is my position as well. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: I think it is a different dichotomy. I notice you have got the submission up; can 
we just get page 4? Doctor, you are positing two separate philosophical underpinnings. On the one 
hand, you are saying that people should not be unfairly discriminated against simply because of that 
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mental illness per se. If I can just scroll down the page a bit. It states that if a person has capacity or 
if they have made an advance health directive when they had capacity, they should not have 
different rights from other people because of their mental illness. If you have a terminal condition 
and you have capacity and you have made an advance health directive, then simply because of your 
mental illness, you should not be treated any differently. 

Dr GIBSON: No. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: I do not mean to put words in your mouth, but your first recommendation is that 
if it is a mental illness only, then that can operate as an absolute exclusion category. 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: I just wanted to clarify that. I want to pick up on Dr Talbot’s question about 
people who have mental illnesses. There are not any mental illnesses, leaving aside suicide, that 
have as part of the trajectory, the symptoms, a physiological component that will lead to death in 
six to 12 months, so when you ask the question about whether someone is likely to die in less than 
12 months, with a mental illness the only precipitator of death would be suicide, on our current 
understanding of mental illness. Is that right? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. Look, I am not trying to complicate it, but the other one is eating disorders as well, 
so when someone has very severe eating disorders. But, obviously, you can treat someone 
involuntarily and bring their weight up so that they are not physiologically going to die. That is tricky. 
I think how you have encapsulated it is right. 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: I was going to change tack. I have a couple of questions, while I have got you, 
about palliative psychiatry. We had an excellent witness yesterday, a psycho–oncologist, 
Dr Lisa Miller. I do not know whether you know Dr Miller. 

Dr GIBSON: Excellent, good! 

Mr S.A. MILLMAN: Yes, she was excellent. I just wanted to ask a couple of questions about palliative 
psychiatry. How sophisticated is the delivery of tertiary education on palliative psychiatry in 
Australia? Is it something that is taught? How widely practised is it? I think Dr Miller’s evidence was 
that she was one of the only ones with that specialty in WA. Committee members can correct me if 
I am wrong. 

Dr GIBSON: My understanding is that she is the only psychiatrist who has had formal training in 
palliative care as a doctor. There are a lot of doctors who work in consultation liaison psychiatry 
who may work with palliative care. That does not mean they are not skilled in this area. What 
Lisa Miller has is training in the physical side of palliative care and training in psychiatry. Psychiatrists 
who work, like she does, in tertiary hospitals with palliative care units, whilst they may not have the 
physical training in palliative care, working on a day in, day out basis with teams of palliative care 
physicians and clinicians and with individuals and their families in a palliative care setting, they 
become experts, not in palliative care per se, but in psychiatry of palliative care. They would go to 
conferences, they would do lectures and they would do a whole heap of things to maintain their 
skills in that area. Whilst Lisa Miller is undoubtedly the doyenne of palliative psychiatry in WA, there 
are a lot of other consultation liaison psychiatrists who will be highly skilled in that area. General 
psychiatrists, general psychiatric trainees, will not be coming across this issue on a daily basis and 
may be doing their professional development in other areas of psychiatry, and so may not see 
themselves as expert in palliative psychiatry, if you want to put it that way. 

The CHAIR: I want to talk about advance care planning. Are psychiatrists involved in advance care 
planning with patients, and to what extent? 
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Dr GIBSON: It is a good point. Advance health directives are in the Mental Health Act. The question 
is: do we get training in advance healthcare directives both at a statutory level and a practical level? 
The answer is that I think it is patchy. Do psychiatrists keep up their training in advance healthcare 
directives? If they are not using them regularly, they are probably not. I have spoken with the Public 
Advocate who says that there are very few advance healthcare directives relating to mental health 
per se. It is very rare. What I would say, though, is that whilst it is not statutory in the sense of 
advance healthcare directives, it is a national mental health standard, it is one of my standards, that 
care planning per se is a requirement for psychiatrists. By care planning, this is working with 
individuals and their families in a very collaborative way around what is important for them. Care 
plans per se should not be a summary of clinical issues. Some are, but there is a move nationally for 
care plans to be really a contract between the clinician and the person and their family, if it is 
appropriate to have their family, which really has the things there that are relevant for that person, 
what they wish to happen—the things that will support them and the things that they want to see 
down the track. Whilst care plans are not in a true sense legal advance healthcare directives, they 
operate in a broad sense of a similar function that they are there as a contract, if you like, between 
the clinician and the person. Do they all operate like that currently? No, they are not all at that 
standard. Is that the aim? Yes. Is it a national standard for people to have care plans? Yes, it is. It is 
a standard already to have care plans even though they are not advance healthcare directives. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: There is a very difficult area here, is there not, with psychiatric illnesses. It is 
about this definition of “capacity”. The problem with a care plan is that it does not have any 
statutory force. 

Dr GIBSON: No, it does not; you are right. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Of course, the difficulty with a psychiatric or mental illness is that you might 
be moving into a stage where you lack capacity, but then that capacity will return at the end for 
somebody has a schizophrenic or perhaps suffers from bipolar disorder. Do you advocate for mental 
health patients to have advance health directives about how they should be cared for when they 
are in that phase where they have lost capacity? 

Dr GIBSON: Section 179 of the Mental Health Act talks about that for involuntary patients. Really, 
what it says is that the clinician, the psychiatrist, should consider to try and meet that statutory 
advance healthcare directive to the fullest extent. That was one of the debates when the bill was 
going through Parliament. In the end, the psychiatrist can override that advance healthcare directive 
and must advise me of that. There is a formal process to do that. For example, someone with 
schizophrenia might say, “When I am unwell, I don’t want to be put in hospital, I don’t want any 
medications and I don’t want anyone to come and see me.” That person without capacity then could 
then be left to die or it could be a really serious outcome. It is not possible to necessarily have a 
situation where the advance healthcare directive overrides involuntary care, because of those 
situations which would be untenable, I guess, for the community and for the person. But there is a 
clear expectation that if there is an advance healthcare directive, if it is a voluntary patient, it is like 
any situation, but if it is an involuntary situation, the psychiatrist must still try to comply with that 
and advise me why they cannot comply. I have received no — 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I was going to ask you for the data. 

[4.10 pm] 

Dr GIBSON: I have received no advice from psychiatrists regarding advance healthcare directives, 
except in one particular case I can think of where a particular person had made an advance 
healthcare directive, which was very broad about not being resuscitated, who then suffered a very 
severe melancholic depression, ended up not eating and drinking, and were eminently curable with 
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ECT, but then there was debate, and we sought legal advice on this. Clearly, in that situation the 
person would not have had any sense of what depression was, what it would mean, the curability 
of that or the treatments that could actually cure it. Under the context of the guardianship act, it 
was the case where the person would not have contemplated that particular situation when they 
wrote their advance healthcare directive, which was very, very broad—just “I don’t want to be 
resuscitated.” It was a case where for that particular person, the ECT went ahead with a very good 
outcome for that person. They were very pleased that that happened. There are complex situations 
like that, I think. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So, that is the only example—the only case that has been reported to you. 

Dr GIBSON: That is the only example I know of. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I know that this is not reportable stuff, so I guess what we are asking you to 
do is give some anecdotal observations, but do very many people with mental illness have advance 
health directives in relation to their care as a psychiatric patient? 

Dr GIBSON: I ask around, from time to time, colleagues and they say no. I have asked the 
Public Advocate and she says no. I am sure they are out there, but there are obviously very few. The 
question is: what is a legal advance healthcare directive versus what other people might consider 
they have as an advance healthcare directive, so things that are not registered in that regard? I am 
sure, as I said, that with care plans, people at times believe they have an agreement with the treating 
team as to what they want when they get unwell, it just may not be legally binding healthcare 
directive. I am sure that there is a lot of that out there, but as far as statutory, there are very few in 
my understanding. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I think we do have a question about whether they should be registered. Is 
that on the list? 

The CHAIR: Yes, would you consider a central register useful for AHDs? 

Dr GIBSON: Look, I do not know. I was kind of tossing up on this one, because I think a central 
register is obviously helpful because it is the go-to point, but the question is then: if not many people 
are using advance healthcare directives, then going to a central register may in fact be a bit of a red 
herring when what you are actually looking to do is find their documents which are saying what they 
really want, even if they have not done an advance healthcare directive. If there were lots of 
advance healthcare directives, a registry might be useful. At the moment, there are very few and it 
would not seem to serve a purpose. At the moment the place to go would be to the mental health 
software application PSOLIS, where the care plans are collated. Going on to PSOLIS will give you the 
best chance of actually identifying whether someone has a care plan in a mental health setting. 
PSOLIS acts as a kind of repository already for non-binding planning. 

The CHAIR: You are probably aware that the WA branch of the Royal Australian and New Zealand 
College of Psychiatrists made a submission and they stated that service levels for consultation liaison 
psychiatry for older adult mental health and palliative care are of concern, particularly outside of 
major metropolitan hospitals. How have you responded to those concerns in relation to access to 
palliative care by those in older mental health care facilities? 

Dr GIBSON: Just to be clear, as you know, I do not run mental health services. I have a statutory 
responsibility for standards of individuals within mental health services. Regarding to physical health 
care broadly for individuals with mental health issues, we have been quite hot on this issue for many 
years. We drove the clinical senate that occurred on physical health care for individuals with mental 
health, and out of that there were a number of strategies, including things like the program that 
they have down in Fremantle Hospital. These are generic physical health programs rather than 
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specific palliative care. There has been a lot of action on physical health care, although we have not 
actually improved the physical health of our cohort. That remains a point of significant shame, I 
think, for us all, but that is the same around the world. 

As far as palliative care goes, I have certainly raised the issue with the Mental Health Commissioner 
and the Department of Health around the importance of consultation liaison and physical health 
care. My concern is, of course, that in activity-based funding, consultation liaison psychiatry does 
not necessarily fit that model very well. It would be a question as to who then paid for that in an 
activity-based funded model. There has been concern, I guess, that as we are moving into that and 
are in that model, consultation liaison psychiatry will be the loser out of that process, so there will 
be fewer positions, potentially, and hospitals may debate whether they want to fund those positions 
or not in economically tight times. 

There is clearly good evidence, and as Lisa Miller would have rightly said, it makes a difference for 
individuals’ outcomes if a physical health team has a strong understanding of mental health issues, 
particularly in palliative care but also in a range of other areas—things like neurology, transplant, 
emergency departments; a whole range of areas where obviously mental health input for physical 
health issues is important not only for the patients and families themselves, but also to support staff 
understanding and to support staff in that process as well. 

The CHAIR: Are there instances in your experience whereby patients who are long-term involuntary 
patients need to access palliative care? 

Dr GIBSON: Absolutely. I had that personal experience at Graylands when I worked there of 
individuals who had longstanding schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder and who developed a 
terminal illness. My experience has actually been good in the sense that, certainly at Graylands, 
which has the majority of the long-stay patients for the state, there was funding through Sir Charles 
Gairdner Hospital several years ago for the palliative care team to do outreach, which they did for 
those individuals. The discussion was often around: What does that individual want? Where do they 
want to spend their last days and how can we facilitate that? In the couple of instances that I was 
involved with, the individual actually said that they would prefer to spend their last days in 
Graylands, which horrified many people, but that was actually the voiced opinion when we talked 
about all the options for them and where they might be able to go. Obviously, to move an individual 
with challenging behaviours into a general hospital palliative care setting can be difficult at times 
for them and for the staff, but, again, it is an individual decision. Making sure that that person has 
advocacy and making sure their voice is actually heard, not just assumed, and making sure there is 
no, if you like, minimising what might be seen to be coercion around these issues; they are the key 
issues around this—to make sure that the person gets a chance to have their say. I am sure we will 
talk about supported decision-making. This is an area in which we use whatever supports to enhance 
their capacity to make these decisions. 

As far as palliative care is concerned, in the small number of instances that I have been involved 
with, the care was actually good. For example, it was important to have the palliative care physicians 
to come across and deal with opiate prescribing. It was probably inappropriate to have psychiatrists 
prescribing opiates in that situation. It was very clear. There was no perceived conflict of interest. 
Again, Lisa Miller is probably in a better position to describe the interface between the palliative 
care units and mental health units at the moment. But my understanding is that there is outreach 
capacity certainly within the metro area, but again much lesser in the regional and remote areas. 

The CHAIR: For those patients who are involuntary under the act, who is their decision-maker in 
relation to care? 
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Dr GIBSON: They have a number of supports. The decision-maker with regard to their psychiatric 
care is the psychiatrist. 

The CHAIR: In relation to palliative care, if they were at the very end of their terminal illness and 
they were highly agitated and required or requested terminal sedation, for example, or withdrawal 
of medical treatment, who is the decision-maker in that? 

Dr GIBSON: In most cases the recommendation is to engage a separate guardian. I think in most 
cases that does happen, although I cannot give you figures on how often that does happen—or it is 
a guardian in the sense of a formal guardian through the SAT or whether there is a family member 
that can appropriately legally act as an assisted decision-maker in that regard. 

The CHAIR: Do you use the hierarchy of decision-makers? 

Dr GIBSON: That is right. 

The CHAIR: There is not an allocated one under the act? 

[4.20 pm] 

Dr GIBSON: No, the act does not have an allocated one in the sense that it refers to the guardianship 
act. The Mental Health Act only talks about acute non-psychiatric care; it does not really comment 
on palliative care. 

The CHAIR: Other medical care. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Is it the case that an involuntary patient could have capacity? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes, in the sense that an involuntary patient may lack capacity to determine mental 
health treatment, but may, in fact, have capacity to determine their palliative or physical treatment, 
and that assessment can be made. That is the complexity of capacity; it is not complete. Someone 
may have capacity to determine their physical health care needs. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I think you gave the example of the case that you dealt with in Graylands. It was 
an involuntary patient but there was a person would could give capacity and, so, you and others 
gave effect to that person’s choices for palliative care at that time. 

Dr GIBSON: Look, that is interesting. That person probably did not have full capacity in the sense of 
being able to determine the full physical health care. If I remember rightly, I think a guardian was 
appointed to assist that process. But what we did do was still engage that person to the greatest 
extent that we possibly could in the decision-making process. Even though they may not technically 
have had capacity, they were still heavily involved in the decision-making process. For example, the 
decision for them to remain in Graylands was their decision. Staff at Graylands were extremely 
anxious about that, but we felt that in the case of this particular person that was in fact their wishes. 
We explored that in great length and we went with that, even though there was anxiety amongst 
the staff. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: This person had a physical illness, which was terminal. They also had a mental 
illness. They did not have full capacity. Who was the decision-maker in that instance? 

Dr GIBSON: For their physical health? 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: In order to determine—I think you said that the person expressed some choices 
or some desires with regard to palliative care, and you wanted to give effect to that. 

Dr GIBSON: Is that in the sense that they were choosing where they wanted to stay? 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Yes. 
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Dr GIBSON: But that particular person did not necessarily want to have much input into the specific 
nature of the palliative care that was provided. By palliative care, it was a case in which the person 
was in pain and found it difficult to verbalise. But it was one of those situations whereby we were 
seeking to relieve their pain so that they could be more comfortable. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Who was the decision-maker in that instance? 

Dr GIBSON: If I recall rightly, there was a guardian involved in that case, and they were happy with 
the process. Palliative care does not mean non-active care; palliative care is an extremely active care 
process. We were activity trying to provide care to reduce pain for that particular person. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: In terms of your exclusionary categories, if there is a substitute decision-maker, 
does that automatically exclude that person? 

Dr GIBSON: That area is really complex. I think that there is no single answer to that in the sense 
that if someone for many, many years has been very clear about their position and has done an 
advance health care directive but loses capacity and has a guardian, then that is situation I guess in 
which you would say, “Well, we can go with that.” But if you have a situation in which the person 
has really given no indication whatsoever that they wanted assistance with dying, I do not think a 
guardian should presuppose what the person might have considered. I think it is actually complex. 
I do not think that we can necessarily hand that job to a guardian in every case. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: But you could give it in some cases? 

Dr GIBSON: I think when you have a situation in which there has been clear, longstanding evidence 
that this is a person’s particular view and you have an advance health care directive, then I think it 
is much easier in that situation. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: What if the person’s long-term view was that they did not want to live with 
schizophrenia? Why would we discriminate against them? 

Dr GIBSON: Schizophrenia is not a terminal illness. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: That is the criteria? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Even though it is their wish? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes, I think so. There are different positions in different jurisdictions, as you know. Some 
jurisdictions will, say, allow the person to end their life actively; other jurisdictions will have it as an 
exclusionary criteria. I think for all those reasons I discussed earlier, there are very strong reasons 
to entirely exclude schizophrenia as the reason to end someone’s life. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Your evidence to the committee is that it is because it is not a terminal 
condition? 

Dr GIBSON: That is right. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: We discriminate between terminal and other illnesses? 

Dr GIBSON: And there are those grey areas in between that we discussed as well; but, yes. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: This committee is looking at end-of-life choices, and what is being discussed at 
some point here is green-lighting suicide, which is a completely different proposition. 

Dr GIBSON: Can I just say that, like the college of psychiatrists, I do not support physician-assisted 
suicide, but that is a different kettle of fish to voluntary-assisted dying. 

Hon COLIN HOLT: At risk of stuffing up your process, Chair, it is related to that question. Obviously, 
some of the questions have been about those people who already have identified mental conditions 
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and then getting a terminal evidence illness and then seeking voluntary. I notice that in your 
submission—or it maybe it came from the RANZCP—that for anyone potentially trying to access 
voluntary assisted dying, it should be mandatory that they have a mental health assessment. 
I assume that is because you want to make sure that they have capacity to make that decision. Is 
that where that recommendation comes from? 

Dr GIBSON: It is both: that they have capacity and that they do not have a treatable mental illness 
that is remediable, so the idea that someone seeks to die. 

Hon COLIN HOLT: But even though they have a terminal illness and they want to access voluntary 
assisted dying, your recommendation is that it becomes a mandatory check by a mandatory 
assessment of potential existence of a mental illness? 

Dr GIBSON: Absolutely, because some people’s mental illness is treated like—people will say, and 
this is a common assumption that someone who has really severe cancer with some pain, therefore 
it is reasonable that they want to die and we should not stop them dying. Someone with cancer who 
has severe pain might also have severe depression, which is making their life miserable in addition 
to that. Why should we not treat that; get them to a point where they are really as well as they can 
be from a mental health perspective and then they can make that decision? 

Hon COLIN HOLT: We have heard quite a bit of evidence about palliative care right up to the end, 
whereby terminal sedation potentially becomes applied. That discussion about “Do you want to 
relieve your pain symptoms? Do you know it is going to be a sedative and that you are going to 
basically go to sleep?” is done between the palliative care specialist physician and the patient 
without any mandatory check from a psychiatrist about their mental illness ability to make that 
decision, which is about their care, just like voluntary assisted dying potentially. I just wonder if you 
can explain the distinction for me? 

[4.30 pm] 

Dr GIBSON: Palliative care physicians are usually pretty good at screening for mental illness as well. 
It is a skill set that they are using quite frequently. I do not think it is that no-one is looking for mental 
illness in that situation. There is someone who is dealing with sick people who are grieving, high 
rates of mental illness in palliative care as well, so there is screening that does go on. 

Hon COLIN HOLT: As long as the screening happens in a mandatory way by a physician—it does not 
necessarily need to be a multiple-credentialed practitioner, which is what came out of one of the 
submissions, I am sure—it is okay because of that situation where a palliative care specialist is 
dealing with that question of capacity. 

Dr GIBSON: It is a tricky one because obviously we have said, again in the Mental Health Act, that 
anyone who is made involuntary has to be seen by a psychiatrist. It is so serious that a psychiatrist 
must see them to determine capacity, mental illness et cetera. What I would not like to see is a 
watered down version that would not apply the same rigour to individuals seeking to end their life, 
notwithstanding that palliative physicians are good at screening for mental illness. Palliative 
physicians would not call themselves psychiatrists. They would not say that they can, hand on heart, 
make diagnoses of mental illness in every case. They would screen for it. Except if you are Lisa Miller, 
you can do both, but most palliative physicians would say that they screen for it but they would ask 
for specialist advice if it was a complex situation, hence, I am trying to not have a lesser standard 
for individuals who are seeking to end their life, even in the case of terminal illness, than we apply 
already within the Mental Health Act. 

Hon COLIN HOLT: I just want to take this one little step further then. Often the patient cannot make 
that decision and goes to the spouse or the son down the hierarchy. Potentially they are making a 



End of Life Choices Thursday, 14 December 2017 — Session Five Page 13 

 

decision around that terminal patient’s health and care, yet there is probably no assessment made 
of those people in terms of their capacity to direct the wishes. 

Dr GIBSON: Sure. 

Hon COLIN HOLT: So the distinction for you is that if it is palliative care, it is okay for the physician 
to do that screening of their capacity in terms of their care in a palliative sense, but when it comes 
to actually requesting the voluntary assisted dying part of it, that is when the rigorous mental health 
assessment should come into it. 

Dr GIBSON: I think that is right. I am not trying to say that psychiatrists should take over palliative 
care. That is not the specialty of psychiatrists. That is the palliative care role and there are good 
palliative care specialists in WA. We have a reasonable system. The issue is around when someone 
actually wishes to accelerate and end their life actively. Then, I think, there is an ethical and 
professional requirement to really make sure that we exclude mental illness in that situation. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Sorry; I know we are keeping you over time, but this is quite interesting. If, 
for example, there was voluntary assisted dying and that legislation or whatever it was said that the 
person had to be of sound mind—words to that effect—does a general GP carry out an initial 
assessment? If the GP says, “I think the person is of sound mind” or conversely “I think there might 
be a problem”, do you see in what we are talking about, the hierarchy, there being an automatic 
referral to a psychologist or should the GPs be in that first tranche of assessment, virtually like we 
are seeing now in advance health directives or what we have just been talking about. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Would you consider using the term “capacity” rather than “sound mind”? 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Sorry, yes. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I think that might be helpful. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: It is an old English phrase. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Yes. 

Dr GIBSON: In some jurisdictions, GPs are, obviously, making these decisions with regard to assisted 
suicide. I am aware of that. It is about the stakes. The question is: are GPs good at doing capacity? 
That is one question. The answer is that it is extremely variable. The nature of GP practice is that 
they often do not have the appropriate time to do this, and they will acknowledge that. They are 
the people seeing people in nursing homes. They are seeing lots of individuals who are incapacitous 
or may have capacity or not. So, they are seeing lots of it but they are not always thinking in that 
paradigm; they are thinking in more broad, holistic paradigms. In the situation where a GP is treating 
mental illness, assisting with the palliative care and making potential capacity assessments that are 
not leading to the potential death of the person, that may be reasonable. But the stakes go up when 
you are saying that someone is going to die. I do not think it is reasonable to have a GP make that 
capacity assessment at that point. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: My point is, if I may, I do not have a problem with what you are saying. I think 
that is quite genuine. I am trying to work out why there is this subtle difference—not a subtle 
difference—why there is a difference between someone actively seeking VAD and somebody who 
is actually getting terminal sedation. It seems a little bit grey to me. 

Dr GIBSON: That is really a philosophical discussion, is it not? What is the line in the sand and when 
do we cross that line in the sand to something that is more active versus something that is a passive 
process? The whole idea of pain and suffering being alleviated and, as a side effect, hastening death 
by, potentially, a short period of time versus actively, I did not intend to enter into that discussion. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: I will leave it there. I know we are running short of time. 
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Mr R.R. WHITBY: The point I wanted to make is that when we are talking about terminal sedation, 
would you not agree that the issue of capacity does not become an issue because terminal sedation 
is about relieving the symptoms at a point when someone is close to death and not a situation when 
someone is seeking voluntary assistance to die? 

Dr GIBSON: I think they are very different. I think you are right. None of us would say that we would 
absolutely want someone to be capacitous, to have capacity, so that we could give them terminal 
sedation. I do not think anyone would see that as sensible, practical or reasonable. Clearly, for 
someone who is in the terminal throes of their illness, there are a whole range of Hippocratic oath 
and Geneva Convention reasons why we would provide that support in order to relieve suffering for 
that person, even though the primary issue is not hastening death. I know there are philosophical 
debates as to where the line is. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: It may happen and it probably usually does quite often, but that is not the intent. 
There is this sort of philosophical demarcation, is there not? You do not have to seek capacity of 
anyone. 

Dr GIBSON: It is primary intent. The primary intent is to relieve suffering. Therefore, seeking capacity 
is not necessarily a requirement to do that. 

Mr R.R. WHITBY: I just think it would be useful if we can quickly do this. In your submission, just to 
elaborate your dot points about what your advice would be in terms of obtaining a clarification of 
capacity of someone. 

Dr GIBSON: Mandatory is obviously self-explanatory. The reason for it to be mandatory is 
two things. I am assuming that any legislation would require an assessment of capacity, although it 
is not in every legislation around the world. The second is that lack of capacity is commonly 
associated with mental illness—not always, but commonly associated with mental illness. Someone 
may have a delirium, if you like, from an infection and they lack capacity because they are really 
physically crook and they cannot think straight. That is not a mental illness per se, although it is 
categorised as a mental illness in the DSM, as opposed to someone who has a treatable severe 
depression. That is why I think it should be mandatory. 

[4.40 pm] 

It should be multiphasic because capacity can fluctuate over time and it can change. The aim 
sometimes is if you see someone who lacks capacity at the start, it may be very reasonable to do 
everything you can through supported decision-making to enhance their capacity-making ability. 
For example, someone may lack capacity because they have schizophrenia and they have a terminal 
illness. They may be very anxious. They may not want to talk to a particular doctor, but their family 
member comes along and can really have a more valid discussion with them about what they really 
want and what their thoughts are. The person is paranoid about the doctors and does not want to 
talk to them but the family may be able to say, “Look, these are the things that we have discussed 
with them.” It may support that person to come back and say, “This is what I want and this is why I 
want it.” That idea that you do capacity and it is once off—someone may not have capacity and you 
help them get capacity or a greater level of capacity. Someone might have capacity but because of 
the nature of their illness you might want to make sure that that is sustained over time. That is why 
multiphasic. It might not have to be several times, but at least more than once. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Presumably that would apply to people who had mania or psychosis or are 
bipolar. When they are in certain phases of the disease, their capacity might vary. 

Dr GIBSON: That is right, or individuals with borderline personality disorder, whose capacity can 
change from moment to moment sometimes, interestingly enough. Being undertaken over a period 
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of time is associated with being multiphasic. You get a true picture, if you like, of that. On requiring 
extensive third party collaboration, “extensive” is probably a bit strong, to be honest. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Could I just ask a question on that, if I may—on the multiphasic. You said it 
should be mandatory. Then you said it should be multiphasic. Does that only apply if, in the first 
analysis, the person is found to lack capacity or does it apply whether the person has capacity? 

Dr GIBSON: That is a really good one. You may have a scenario where someone is found to have 
capacity and their history is clearly indicative, with all the other information that you get, that they 
have always had capacity and that has been sustained over a long period of time and that has been 
their position. Technically, in some cases, from assessment you might be able to get a very clear 
understanding of that. I will not say you cannot because you may. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Then you have to go to multiphasic. 

Dr GIBSON: If the person lacks capacity or you have some uncertainty about whether this is a true 
current picture. The example of that is when you see someone—it is not an uncommon scenario—
and they appear to have capacity. But when you go and speak to their family, it is very clear that 
what they have said to you is entirely problematic and they do not have capacity, based on what 
they have been doing. What they have been saying does not reflect what they have been doing. 
Sometimes if you just do a one-off assessment with the person, you could be tricked, not because 
the person is trying to trick you; you just do not get the full story. That is why I think if there is any 
doubt, you should do it again. Certainly, if someone does not have capacity, you should do it again 
as well. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: What would be the time frame? 

Dr GIBSON: It depends on the time frame to get all the other information. You want to make sure 
that you have some third party information to corroborate this. Sure, for some people there might 
not be any third party information. I accept that. There may be cases where you cannot. But because 
of the high stakes, there should be an attempt to get family views or other relevant third party 
views. The reason I say that is that in taking an assessment to be an involuntary patient, you have 
to do the same thing. Why, where there are higher stakes, should we not be doing the appropriate 
assessment? 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: But you might remove the “extensive”. 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. There are a whole lot of issues, but I think appropriate third party corroboration is 
probably a better word. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: The one thing you did not cover—this is in relation to your previous 
comments —is that the ability of GPs to do the capacity assessment is a bit variable. 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: So who does the capacity assessment? 

Dr GIBSON: These are not going to be potentially frequent events. I think a psychiatrist should do 
that. You might get someone say that a psychiatrist will then build up a business around this. What 
I would say, again, is that if you have to ask a psychiatrist to assess the capacity for involuntary 
status, then it should be a psychiatrist. There are other specialties who are good at that as well. 
Geriatricians are specialist physicians who are doing this frequently as well. There may in fact be a 
cohort of specialties that do this as well—they are used to doing this and they are seen as having 
liberty in a legal — 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Would you add to that list mental health social workers and mental health 
nurses? 
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Dr GIBSON: No, I would not, because they do not have the same competency training. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: It would need to be somebody with a medical background? 

Dr GIBSON: In this instance, yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I notice that you distinguish between GPs and psychiatrists on the basis that the 
stakes are higher. Would you agree that the stakes are higher than a decision about whether to 
involuntarily detain a patient? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: In the process for determining capacity with regard to involuntary detention at 
the moment, is it the assessment of one psychiatrist? 

Dr GIBSON: It is the assessment of one psychiatrist, that is right, but there is a check and balance in 
the sense that you have the Mental Health Tribunal, which has a psychiatrist on it, as well as a 
lawyer, as well as a community member, who automatically must—so, it is mandatory—review that 
decision. You automatically have a mandatory check. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: That is a very important point, Chair. I note the time, and I wonder if there might 
be an ability to pursue this on another occasion? 

The CHAIR: Yes. I am happy to be guided by the committee. I have a couple of other questions as 
well. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I would like to do questions 19, 20 and 21 if we can. 

Hon ROBIN CHAPPLE: Chair, how are we going with the time? 

The CHAIR: We have one more witness. We have given the witness the option of coming back at a 
later date. He is in the public gallery. Does the witness want to give an indication of whether he is 
able to come back at a later date? 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Before a decision is made, Chair, I think we need to go into committee session 
to resolve that. I do not know what other members are thinking, but if the intention is to continue 
with Dr Gibson now, I have a range of other questions. We are just scratching the surface here. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: I may have misled you. I was not opposed to the idea of having Dr Gibson 
come back again, but I would like to consider questions 19, 20 and 21 today because I think that 
would help us. 

The CHAIR: Can I suggest, because this is a really significant issue, that we continue the questions 
that we have planned for today. We will give our last witness the option of coming back at a later 
hearing, and we will probably invite you back, too, Dr Gibson, if that is possible. 

Proceedings suspended from 4.48 to 4.52 pm 

The CHAIR: Thank you, Dr Gibson. We will recommence the hearing, noting the opening statement 
that I made previously around parliamentary privilege. The committee has resolved that we have a 
few more questions for you today, and we will not detain you for too long, and we would like to 
invite you back, probably next year when we hold our hearings again, if that is possible. I have a 
couple of questions on the issue of suicide. Are you aware of any evidence to support the view that 
introducing voluntary assisted dying would increase the risk of suicide in the general community? 

Dr GIBSON: I am not an expert in this area, but my reading of this is that in Jones and Paton’s analysis 
in the Southern Medical Journal, which you have probably seen already—it is a peer reviewed 
journal—they seem to have quite a balanced view. They found an increase in the total suicides, but 
that included physician-assisted suicides as well, and no reduction in non-assisted suicides. They say 
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that although some research has suggested a significant increase in non-assisted suicides, when 
they took out the state-specific trends, the association was still positive with increased suicide but 
was not statistically significant—that is, it was possibly increased, but it was not absolutely clear. 

The CHAIR: Given that there was an increase, but it was not significant, are you able to recommend 
anything that would ameliorate that risk? 

Dr GIBSON: I do not have an answer to that, actually. We struggle to reduce suicide rates, as you 
know already. I guess the whole thrust of my presentation today is around making sure that those 
people who have mental illness that potentially can be treated do not end up having the equivalent 
of suicide. I guess the thrust of my recommendations is based around trying to protect that 
particularly vulnerable group. But at a population level, I do not have any particular strategies that 
I could offer. 

The CHAIR: The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists position statement 
indicates that there is growing evidence that people who develop dementia under the age of 70 are 
at increased risk of suicide. Are you aware of any studies that consider this issue? 

Dr GIBSON: Yes. It has been a generally held belief—it is traditional knowledge—that individuals 
when they are first diagnosed with dementia may have what is called a catastrophic reaction when 
they realise what is going to happen. But there are also other studies that have suggested that 
particularly if individuals have a history of mental illness per se—depression, anxiety or other mental 
illnesses—or, for example, a family history of early onset dementia, where successive generations 
have seen the effects of early onset dementia, because some early onset dementias are very genetic 
and people have a high chance of having it, that those particular groups are at increased risk. 
Certainly with regard to dementia across its course, people are more likely to suicide early in the 
course of dementia. There may be reasons for that; for example, folk in the later stage of dementia 
may not have the wherewithal to suicide or may not have the psychic focus on suicide at that point 
because they are so cognitively impaired. I would certainly agree that that early stage is a very 
important focal point. 

The CHAIR: For suicide? 

Dr GIBSON: For suicide, and for suicide intervention. When I say “suicide intervention”, to be aware 
of those risks and to make sure that we are looking after them. 

The CHAIR: In your view, is it possible to distinguish temporary suicidal ideation from an enduring, 
considered and rational decision to end one’s life in the face of unbearable terminal suffering in 
circumstances where voluntary assisted dying is legally available? 

Dr GIBSON: Sure. Can I preface that by saying that there is reasonable evidence that unbearable 
suffering or pain may not be the thing itself that drives people to seek voluntary assisted dying. It 
may be things like loss of dignity, loss of control—a whole range of things. So I think the answer to 
the question is yes, but sometimes it can take time. I have seen individuals who have, for a range of 
reasons, maintained an intent to suicide, in the absence of mental illness, as opposed to individuals 
who, when their mental illness is treated, lose that intent to suicide. The issue there is that for those 
individuals that I have worked with over the years, they have often still had significant psychological 
distress due to issues in their lives and their childhood, so although there may not be a diagnosable 
mental illness per se, there are often still unresolved issues for those folk. I think there is still a 
requirement to make sure that we seek to provide proper psychological support and care for those 
individuals. But I believe there are individuals who, despite that, will still maintain a fixed view. It is 
not common—it is pretty rare, I think—but they are out there. 
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Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Relating to the answer to that last question about the assessment of 
capacity, is there an overlap there? Is that about assessing the person’s capacity? 

Dr GIBSON: Is that in the context of someone who has ongoing psychological issues? Is that what 
you mean? 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Yes. I am talking about a situation where the psychiatrist is doing the 
assessment of capacity, and the person perhaps does not have a mental illness that is being treated, 
but the psychiatrist suspects that there is an underlying depression or some other kind of mental 
illness. 

Dr GIBSON: In that situation, I think there is an ethical onus to actually pursue that and to, first, 
clarify whether the person does have an underlying mental illness, or depression or whatever, and 
then to offer robust treatment for that individual that suits their needs. 

Hon Dr SALLY TALBOT: Would that be part of the capacity assessment, do you think? 

Dr GIBSON: I think an assessment of capacity by a psychiatrist will always look for mental illness, 
because, as I said, there is commonly a statistical association between lack of capacity and mental 
illnesses, although some people can lack capacity and not have a mental illness. It is very common 
for someone who lacks capacity to have a mental illness as well. I cannot give you the figures, but 
because it happens commonly, we have to look for it. So a rigorous assessment of capacity would 
also scan for mental illness, and if there was any uncertainty as to whether there was a mental 
illness, an appropriate further assessment to exclude that would have to occur, hence the role of 
the psychiatrist in that. 

The CHAIR: Thank you for your evidence before the committee today. A transcript of this hearing 
will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Any such corrections must be made and the 
transcript returned within 10 working days from the date of the email attached to the transcript. If 
the transcript is not returned within this period, it will be deemed to be correct. New material 
cannot be added via these corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should 
you wish to provide additional information or elaborate on particular points, please include a 
supplementary submission for the committee’s consideration when you return your corrected 
transcript of evidence. The committee will write to you with the questions taken on notice during 
the hearing. In addition, we will include any proposed questions that we were unable to address 
due to time constraints. Thank you very much. 

Hearing concluded at 5.02 pm 

__________ 


	JOINT SELECT COMMITTEE ON END OF LIFE CHOICES
	TRANSCRIPT OF EVIDENCE
	Members

